Electronically Filed IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF TRACE & PARTY OF THE STATE OF TRACE K. Lindeman NEVADA, Supreme Court Case Court Case Court The Supreme Court

STATE OF NEVADA, DEPARTMENT OF BUSINESS AND INDUSTRY, FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS DIVISION,

District Court Case No.: A-15-720959-C

Appellants,

VS.

DOLLAR LOAN CENTER, LLC, a domestic liability company,

Respondent.

APPEAL FROM THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

ADAM PAUL LAXALT
Attorney General
WILLIAM J. MCKEAN
Chief Deputy Attorney General
Nevada Bar No. 6740
DAVID J. POPE
Senior Deputy Attorney General
Nevada Bar No. 8617
VIVIENNE RAKOWSKY
Deputy Attorney General
Nevada Bar No. 9160

II. INTRODUCTION

The policy behind NRS Chapter 604A is to prohibit short-term lenders from making predatory loans that force consumers into a long-term cycle of debt, commonly referred to in the Legislative history of Chapter 604A as the "debt treadmill." Generally speaking, customers who enter into agreements for high-interest loans live paycheck to paycheck, and one added expense can send them to a short-term, high-interest lender. Often this type of borrower is unable to repay the original loan within the typical 35-day duration of the loan.

Indeed, as the legislative history makes clear, before Chapter 604A was enacted, predatory payday lenders literally banked on the hoped-for default. Once a borrower was unable to repay their short-term loan, lenders would convince the borrower to "refinance" the principle and interest from the short-term loan using a much longer term high-interest loan. Not surprisingly, trapped on this "debt treadmill," debtors usually ended up defaulting again at some point. This time, the predatory lender would sue on the default and would inevitably win a judgment for all of the remaining principle and interest (often trebled), plus late fees, overdraft fees, and collection costs. The lender then would get a garnishment order, ensuring that the lender was paid out of the borrower's wages. When all was said and done, a predatory lender could get as much as ten times the original value of the loan, with an actual return on investment of over 1,000 percent. As described

in the legislative history of Chapter 604A, this was called "back-end" lending, because predatory lenders issued short-term payday loans expecting to make their real money on the "back-end" after default.

Chapter 604A put a stop to that practice. As originally drafted, the provision that is now NRS 604A.480 only included Subsection 1, which strictly prohibits extending a payday loan beyond a short, 60-day extension. But a few payday lenders asked for an exception to that strict ban on converting short-term payday loans to a long-term, high-interest loan. Those lenders explained that, unlike the predatory lenders targeted by Chapter 604A, they never sued if a debtor defaulted. So the Legislature amended NRS 604A.480 to add Subsection 2, which allows a defaulted short-term payday loan to be refinanced as a long-term loan, but only if the lender agrees not to sue on the original or refinanced loan.

This all is very clear from the legislative history of NRS 604A, and from the legislative history of Respondent Dollar Loan Center, LLC's ("Dollar Loan") repeated unsuccessful attempts to have the Legislature remove NRS 604A.480(2)(f)'s lawsuit prohibition. It is just as clear from the plain text of NRS 604A.480 itself, as Dollar Loan itself has repeatedly acknowledged when it sought to have the ban removed by the Legislature. And this plain reading of NRS 604A.480 is clearly supported by the policy objectives behind the original enactment of NRS 604A. The rationale is obvious: the litigation ban on long-term

refinancing of payday loans directly furthers the Legislature's desire to kill predatory "back-end" lending practices that exacerbated the debt treadmill.

But the lower court in this case held otherwise. In a broadly-worded order drafted for the court by Dollar Loan, the court expressly held that NRS 604A.480 "contains no prohibition against a licensee from initiating civil suits or alternate dispute resolution proceedings against a debtor that is in default." Respectfully, that ruling cannot be reconciled with the plain text of NRS 604A.480, with its legislative history and purpose, or with the authoritative interpretation given to the provision by the state agency authorized to administer it. Indeed, it doesn't even jibe with the interpretation repeatedly given to the statute by Dollar Loan itself in the past, and even arguably in the complaint in this case. Accordingly, and as explained further below, the State respectfully requests that the district court's order granting declaratory relief be reversed.

III. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Appeal arises from a final order of the Eighth Judicial District Court entered on February 25, 2016. Aplt. App. DLC00461-DLC00467 (the "Order"). The Order is appealable under NRAP 3A(b)(1). Petitioner timely filed its notice of appeal on March 16, 2016.

IV. ISSUE PRESENTED

Did the district court err in ruling that "NRS 604A.480 ... contains no

prohibition against a [lender] for initiating civil suits or alternative dispute resolution proceedings against a debtor that is in default"?

V. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND CASE

A. Nevada's regulation of the "payday loan" industry.

In 2005, the Legislature passed Assembly Bill (A.B.) 384, subsequently codified as NRS Chapter 604A, 1 to address predatory lending practices by so-called "payday lenders" in Nevada. At issue in this case are two types of loans regulated under NRS Chapter 604A: deferred deposit loans and high-interest loans. A deferred deposit loan is a transaction in which the customer provides a check or authorization for the electronic transfer of funds on a future date in exchange for the customer's immediate receipt of a lesser sum of money. A high-interest loan is a loan that has single or multiple installments and charges an annual interest rate of more than 40 percent. The original loan term of a deferred deposit loan or high-interest loan is generally limited to 35 days.

Most consumers of high-interest loans live paycheck to paycheck, and one unexpected expense can send them to a payday lender. These customers do not

¹ A.B. 384, 73rd Leg. (Nev., July 1, 2005).

² NRS 604A.050.

³ NRS 604A.0703.

⁴ NRS 604A.408(1).

look at the interest rate, nor do they shop around for the best deal.⁵ The lending abuses by these short-term, high-interest lenders often lock unwary consumers into a cycle of debt, referred to as the "debt treadmill."

The debt treadmill begins when a customer takes out their first payday loan. A loan interest rate can range from 150 to 1,100 percent annually. It is not uncommon among those who seek assistance from credit-counseling agencies and legal-aid agencies to take out a second loan to pay the first and a third one to pay the second ⁶

Through this cycle of refinancing an outstanding short-term payday loan with the proceeds of a new long-term loan, a consumer can end up owing many times the original amount of the loan in interest, fees, and other charges.

But things often do not end there. Eventually, many consumers falter on the debt treadmill, defaulting on their loan. Before Chapter 604A was enacted, if the lender commenced a civil action or alternative dispute resolution process on the refinanced loan, then such borrowers became saddled with adverse judgments for debts far in excess of the amounts originally borrowed—potentially up to ten times the amount of their original loans. In the absence of meaningful constraints on their collection practices, persistent and resourceful lenders then may obtain

⁵ Aplt. App. DLC00265-267 (Hearing on A.B. 384 Before the Assembly Commerce Comm., 73rd Leg. (Nev., May 6, 2005)).

⁶ *Id*.

⁷ *Id*.

judgments leaving the consumers subjected to garnishment of wages pushing the consumers more deeply into a downward spiral of debt.

Statistics from 2004 shed light on the magnitude of the debt treadmill, giving Nevada lawmakers reason for concern. In 2004, small claims cases involving high-interest or payday loans comprised 55 percent of cases in Las Vegas, and 75 percent in North Las Vegas.⁸ Given the overwhelming backlog of bad debt collection cases, some justice court hearings amounted to no more than a rubber stamp of judgments by default.⁹ Often unsophisticated debtors in default would not even show up to court, exacerbating and encouraging predatory lending practices. These circumstances were the impetus for A.B. 385, introduced in 2005.

As originally introduced, A.B. 385 contained a restriction designed to completely halt the debt treadmill by strictly limiting "back-end" refinancing in the case of a consumer with an outstanding, short-term payday loan. In such a case, a payday lender was limited to one, and only one, refinancing arrangement to discharge the balance of an original short-term loan with the proceeds of a new loan. Generally, the term of an original payday loan is limited to 35 days. As

⁸ *Id*.

⁹ *Id*.

¹⁰ Aplt. App. DLC00351-DLC00352 (Proposed Amendment to A.B. 385, May 6, 2005).

initially proposed, the duration of a refinancing arrangement was limited to a single 60-day extension beyond the term of the original loan. This prohibition was subsequently codified as subsection 1 of NRS 604A.480 ("Subsection 1").

A few payday lenders balked at this singular limitation. These were lenders who, under their particular business model, entered into longer-term refinancing arrangements but would also contractually agree to forego any civil action against their customers in the event of a default. These "good actors" asserted that they would be driven out of business absent an exception to the single 60-day refinancing extension rule. In order to accommodate the specific business model of this subset of payday lenders, a narrow exception was added to the bill. This exception was subsequently codified as subsection 2 of NRS 604A.480 ("Subsection 2").

Subsection 2 allows for an unlimited repayment period—far beyond that of any other permissible new loan—and at an interest rate of up to 199 percent. In order to take advantage of the exception, however, a lender must abide by nine enumerated requirements, including: performing a credit check, not charging interest after the maturity date of the loan, reporting the payment history to a major consumer reporting agency, allowing the customer to rescind the loan within five

¹¹ NRS 604A.408.

¹² Aplt. App. DLC00266- DLC00352 (Hearing on A.B. 384 Before the Assembly Commerce Comm., 73rd Leg. (Nev., May 6, 2005)).

days without fee, and requiring the customer to participate in credit counseling. Subject to these restrictions, the lender is permitted to issue a loan under Subsection 2, provided the lender "does not commence any civil action or process of alternative dispute resolution on a defaulted loan or any extension or repayment plan thereof." In short, lenders understood that if they refinanced loans under Subsection 2, they were foregoing civil action in favor of charging interest up to 199 percent for a longer time period. This prohibition was subsequently codified as paragraph (f) of Subsection 2.

With these amendments, A.B. 384 was enacted and subsequently codified in NRS Chapter 604A. In 2007, the Legislature adopted further limitations in Subsection 1, prohibiting a lender from adding to the principal amount of the new loan any unpaid interest or other charges that accrued during the original term of the loan or any extension of the outstanding loan.¹⁵

B. The agency's interpretation of Subsection 2.

On December 10, 2009, the FID issued an advisory opinion regarding mandatory disclosures for loans made pursuant to NRS 604A.480 (the "2009 FID

¹³ Aplt. App. DLC00351-DLC00352 (Proposed Amendment to A.B. 385, May 6, 2005)).

¹⁴ See Aplt. App. DLC00413-DLC00416 (Hearing on S.B. 123 Before the Senate Commerce Comm., 78th Leg. (Nev., Feb 13, 2015)).

¹⁵ A.B. 478, 74th Leg. (Nev., 2007).

Advisory Opinion"). ¹⁶ In it, the FID concluded that the civil remedies bar in paragraph (f) against civil suits or alternative dispute resolution is applicable to all loans made under Subsection 2. On October 30, 2012, the Attorney General issued an official opinion on this same subject, Op. Nev. Att'y Gen. No. 2012-06 (Oct. 30, 2012) (the "AGO 2012-06"). ¹⁷ The Attorney General reasoned as follows:

[NRS 604A.480] provides that a licensee who utilizes the exception in ... [Sub]section 2 may not commence a civil action or process of alternative dispute resolution "on a defaulted loan or any extension or repayment plan thereof." NRS 604A.480(2)(f). The statute does not confine the prohibition to the outstanding loan; it applies to "a defaulted loan or any extension or repayment plan thereof." The bar reasonably applies to either an outstanding loan or a new loan used to pay the balance on an outstanding loan.¹⁸

C. Dollar Loan's unsuccessful attempts to change Subsection 2.

In 2011, the Legislature considered a proposal by certain payday lenders—including Dollar Loan—that would have modified paragraph (f) of Subsection 2.¹⁹ Through its testifying representative, Dollar Loan conceded that it was "barred by [Subsection 2] from accessing the courts for civil remedy which may be required in

¹⁶ Aplt. App. DLC 00163-DLC00169 (Advisory Opinion, Dec. 10, 2009)).

¹⁷ Aplt. App. DLC00157-DLC00161 (AGO 2012-06).

¹⁸ *Id.* DLC00160 (AGO 2012-06).

¹⁹ Aplt. App. DLC00392-DLC00393 (Hearing on A.B. 514 Before the Assembly Commerce Comm., 76th Leg. (Nev., April 6, 2011)).

an instance of breach of contract or default on a loan."²⁰ On this basis, Dollar Loan sought to amend Subsection 2 to make the civil remedies bar applicable only to "an outstanding loan [that] is ... in default at the time of the new loan agreement."²¹ In other words, Dollar Loan sought to remove any forward-looking requirement from the civil remedies bar and turn it into merely a condition precedent.

Opponents of Dollar Loan's proposal, however, pointed out that such a change would undo the existing balance between Subsections 1 and 2.²² A spokesperson for the Legal Aid Center of Southern Nevada explained as follows:

[T]he Legislature saw fit to state that lenders cannot establish or extend a period beyond 60 days after the original date of the loan. An exception was put in subsection 2, which is the subject of the bill. I was involved in the negotiations on this. The installment loan lenders ... said they could not live with NRS 604A.480, but they had a different business model. Their model consisted of the nine criteria that are in subsection 2 of NRS 604.480, the last of which is the subject of this bill. It is important to keep in mind that this exception allows for a loan period of 150 days, which is totally different from the two-week payday loan model. The Legislature, in determining to allow a loan period as an exception of 150 days, included the criteria that such a lender would not sue to collect on that loan if it went into default. While that situation may seem unfair, one needs to look at the big picture and see that the Legislature determined that it would not allow a lender to collect interest for 150 days and to sue the

²⁰ Id. (Mr. Ferrari, representing Dollar Loan Center).

²¹ *Id*.

²² *Id.* DLC00395-DLC00396 (testimony of Mr. Wulz, Executive Director of the Legal Aid Center of Southern Nevada).

borrower if there was a default.²³

Not surprisingly, given the testimony, the Legislature declined to make such a change, thereby preserving the existing balance.²⁴ The bill died in committee.

After the 2011 legislative session ended in June 2011, an opinion was issued by the Legislative Counsel Bureau ("LCB") dated July 26, 2011 (the 2011 LCB Opinion"),²⁵ which Dollar Loan subsequently obtained. In the opinion, the LCB summarily concluded that Subsection 2 imposes no bar on a lender's civil remedies. Instead, LCB opined that the requirements in Subsection 2, including paragraph (f), are "not affirmative prohibitions," characterizing them as mere conditions precedent. Curiously, LCB's characterization of the statute mirrored the proposed amendment that Dollar Loan had just unsuccessfully requested—an amendment that its representative had testified was necessary in order for it to "access civil remedies."

In 2015, Dollar Loan again undertook to effect legislative changes to Subsection 2—this time to remove completely the civil remedies bar in paragraph

²³ *Id*.

 $^{^{24}}$ *Id*.

²⁵ Aplt. App. DLC00007-DLC00009.

²⁶ Aplt. App. DLC00392-DLC00393 (Hearing on A.B. 514 Before the Assembly Commerce Comm. 76th Leg. (Nev., April 6, 2011)).

(f) of Subsection 2. Again, Dollar Loan's representative conceded that paragraph (f) bars any lender who operates by the guidelines of NRS 604A.480 from "accessing the courts for civil remedy which may be required in an instance of breach of contract or default on a loan."²⁷ This concession was consistent with the conclusion of AGO 2012-06.

And again, in 2015, the Legislature was advised of the negative consequences that could result from undoing the existing balance between Subsections 1 and 2. The spokesperson for the Legal Aid Center of Southern Nevada explained that the proposed bill would "encourage high-interest, long-term loans by providing litigation as a weapon, thereby opening a "loophole that will be exploited on the backs of the working poor." Indeed, in discussing paragraph (f), Legislators recognized that the proposed removal of the civil remedies bar would weaken the law and open the door to the type of litigation and abuses that took place prior to the enactment of NRS Chapter 604A in 2005. This bill also died in committee.

In summary, the Legislature twice rejected Dollar Loan's efforts to eliminate

²⁷ *Id*.

Aplt. App. DLC00421-DLC00422 (Hearing on S.B. 123 Before the Senate Commerce Comm., Leg., 78th (Feb 13, 2015); see also id. at 410-411 (stating the deletion of "paragraph (f) of [S]ubsection 2" was necessary to allow Dollar Loan to access a "civil remedy"); id. at DLC 00413] ("Dollar Loan Center lends under [NRS 604A.480], and civil remedy is not allowed.").

the restrictions of paragraph (f), creating a clear record of its intent to preserve the balance between Subsections 1 and 2. There is no doubt that the Legislature intended that a lender under Subsection 2 not commence a civil action on the default of a loan granted under that provision. Had Dollar Loan succeeded in its efforts to upset this balance, the resulting legislation would have once again opened the door to unreasonable "back-end" refinancing, and the corresponding debt treadmill, that existed prior to the enactment of Chapter 604A in 2005.²⁹

Today the statute reads as follows:

- 1. Except as otherwise provided in subsection 2, if a customer agrees in writing to establish or extend the period for the repayment, renewal, refinancing or consolidation of an outstanding loan by using the proceeds of a new deferred deposit loan or high-interest loan to pay the balance of the outstanding loan, the licensee shall not establish or extend the period beyond 60 days after the expiration of the initial loan period. The licensee shall not add any unpaid interest or other charges accrued during the original term of the outstanding loan or any extension of the outstanding loan to the principal amount of the new deferred deposit loan or high-interest loan.
- 2. *This section does not apply* to a new deferred deposit loan or high-interest loan if the licensee:
- (a) Makes the new deferred deposit loan or high-interest loan to a customer pursuant to a loan agreement which, under its original terms:
 - (1) Charges an annual percentage rate of less than 200 percent;
- (2) Requires the customer to make a payment on the loan at least once every 30 days;
- (3) Requires the loan to be paid in full in not less than 150 days; and
- (4) Provides that interest does not accrue on the loan at the annual percentage rate set forth in the loan agreement after the date of

²⁹ *Id*.

maturity of the loan;

- (b) Performs a credit check of the customer [...];
- (c) Reports information relating to the loan [...];
- (d) Gives the customer the right to rescind [...];
 - (e) Participates in good faith with a counseling agency [...]; and
 - (f) Does not commence any civil action or process of alternative dispute resolution on a defaulted loan or any extension or repayment plan thereof.

NRS 360A.480 (2016) (emphases added).

Again, under Subsection 1, a lender is limited to a single 60-day refinancing period. And in order to take advantage of the exception in Subsection 2, a lender must abide by the nine enumerated restrictions, including the civil remedies bar in paragraph (f).

D. The district court's order.

After twice failing to have the Legislature modify paragraph (f), Dollar Loan, on July 6, 2015, filed a complaint for declaratory relief.³⁰ In its complaint, Dollar Loan acknowledged that the legislative intent underlying Subsections 1 and 2 of NRS 604A.480 is to "prevent borrowers from falling onto the perilous "debt treadmill." Dollar Loan also conceded that:

NRS 604A.480 bars a licensee from commencing a civil action or process of alternative dispute

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