**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE  
STATE OF NEVADA**

THE STATE OF NEVADA  
DEPARTMENT OF BUSINESS AND  
INDUSTRY, FINANCIAL  
INSTITUTIONS DIVISION,

Appellant,

vs.

DOLLAR LOAN CENTER, LLC, a  
DOMESTIC LIMITED-LIABILITY  
COMPANY,

Respondent.

Supreme Court No. 70002  
District Court Case No.: 2016-33100  
Electronically Filed  
Oct 21 2016 03:37 p.m.  
Elizabeth A. Brown  
Clerk of Supreme Court

**RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF**

Patrick J. Reilly, Esq.  
Nevada Bar No. 6103  
Erica C. Smit, Esq.  
Nevada Bar No. 13959  
HOLLAND & HART LLP  
9555 Hillwood Drive, Second Floor  
Las Vegas, Nevada 89134  
Tel: (702) 669-4600  
Fax: (702) 669-4650

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

### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

NRS 604A.480 does not create a blanket prohibition against the filing of lawsuits and alternative dispute resolution ("ADR") proceedings on defaulted loans. Such a position contradicts NRS 604A.415, which plainly provides for the commencement of civil actions upon defaulted loans made under NRS Chapter 604A. The plain language of NRS 604A.480 directs that paragraphs (a) through (f) are merely conditions precedent for a licensee to qualify to offer a Subsection 2 Loan. Under the canons of statutory construction, this Court should adopt DLC's interpretation because it gives effect to every word in paragraph (f), it comports with the statute and chapter as a whole, and it is reflective of the Legislature's specific amendments to Subsection 2.

Even if this Court determined paragraph (f) was ambiguous, the legislative history also supports DLC's interpretation. Though the legislative history at the time of enactment of paragraph (f) is silent regarding its ramifications, this silence is instructive because any waiver of a licensee's rights to sue would certainly have been debated, as A.B. 384 was the product of extensive collaboration with the

lending industry. More telling, however, is the subsequent legislative history, which expressly shows how the Legislature interpreted paragraph (f), which aligned with the LCB's (and DLC's) interpretation. Thus, paragraph (f) prohibits a licensee from offering a Subsection 2 loan if the licensee has already sued a borrower on the original, defaulted loan—nothing more.

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

A de novo standard of review applies because this case involves the interpretation of NRS 604A.480(2)(f). *See Zohar v. Zbiegien*, 130 Nev., Adv. Op. 74, 334 P.3d 402, 405 (2014) (“[W]e review issues of statutory interpretation de novo.”). “Questions of law, including the administrative construction of statutes, are subject to independent appellate review.” *Harrah’s Operating Co. v. State, Dep’t of Taxation*, 130 Nev., Adv. Op. 15, 321 P.3d 850, 852 (2014); *State, DMV v. Taylor-Caldwell*, 126 Nev. 132, 134, 229 P.3d 471, 472 (2010).

When a statute is clear on its face, this Court “will not look beyond its plain language.” *Zohar*, 130 Nev., Adv. Op. 74, 334 P.3d at 405. However, “when a statute is susceptible to more than one reasonable interpretation, it is ambiguous, and this court must resolve that ambiguity by looking to the statute’s legislative history and construing the statute in a manner that conforms to reason and public policy.” *Id.* (internal quotation marks omitted).

When interpreting an ambiguous statute, this Court’s primary consideration is the Legislature’s intent. *See Hardy Co. v. SNMARK, LLC*, 126 Nev. 528, 533, 245 P.3d 1149, 1153 (2010). This Court also “has a duty to construe statutes as a whole, so that all provisions are considered together and, to the extent practicable, reconciled and harmonized.” *Id.* at 534, 245 P.3d at 1153. Thus, this Court “will not render any part of the statute meaningless, and will not read the statute’s language so as to produce absurd or unreasonable results.” *Id.*

## **ARGUMENT**

### **I. The Plain Language of Paragraph (f) Does Not Apply to New Loans.**

The FID inexplicably posits that Subsection (2)(f) of NRS 604A.480 operates as a blanket prohibition against the commencement of any civil action or alternative dispute resolution proceeding in the event of a default, even a default on a loan that has never been refinanced under NRS 604A.480. This position is directly contradicted by NRS 604A.415, which expressly provides for a right of action in the event of a default on a loan. The FID also fails to recognize that NRS 604A.480 is limited by its very terms to instances in which a borrower seeks to repay an existing loan by taking out a new loan. No plausible interpretation can be made where NRS 604A.480(2)(f) can be applied to prevent an action to recover on the original loan, and the FID offers no authority justifying such an obvious attempted rewrite of NRS Chapter 604A.

NRS 604A.480 merely limits the use of proceeds of a new loan to pay the balance of an outstanding loan, with some exceptions. NRS 604A.480 states:

1. Except as otherwise provided in subsection 2, if a customer agrees in writing to establish or extend the period for the repayment, renewal, refinancing or consolidation of an outstanding loan by using the proceeds of a new deferred deposit loan or high-interest loan to pay the balance of the outstanding loan, the licensee shall not establish or extend the period beyond 60 days after the expiration of the initial loan period. The licensee shall not add any unpaid interest or other charges accrued during the original term of the outstanding loan or any extension of the outstanding loan to the principal amount of the new deferred deposit loan or high-interest loan.
2. This section does not apply to a new deferred deposit loan or high-interest loan if the licensee:
  - (a) Makes the new deferred deposit loan or high-interest loan to a customer pursuant to a loan agreement which, under its original terms:
    - (1) Charges an annual percentage rate of less than 200 percent;
    - (2) Requires the customer to make a payment on the loan at least once every 30 days;
    - (3) Requires the loan to be paid in full in not less than 150 days; and
    - (4) Provides that interest does not accrue on the loan at the annual percentage rate set forth in the loan agreement after the date of maturity of the loan;
  - (b) Performs a credit check of the customer with a major consumer reporting agency before making the loan;
  - (c) Reports information relating to the loan experience of the customer to a major consumer reporting agency;

- (d) Gives the customer the right to rescind the new deferred deposit loan or high-interest loan within 5 days after the loan is made without charging the customer any fee for rescinding the loan;
- (e) Participates in good faith with a counseling agency that is:
  - (1) Accredited by the Council on Accreditation of Services for Families and Children, Inc., or its successor organization; and
  - (2) A member of the National Foundation for Credit Counseling, or its successor organization; and
- (f) Does not commence any civil action or process of alternative dispute resolution on a defaulted loan or any extension or repayment plan thereof.

Under the plain language of the statute, there are four grounds to support the LCB and DLC's interpretation that paragraph (f) means a licensee cannot offer a Subsection 2 loan if the licensee has already commenced a civil action or process of alternative dispute resolution ("ADR") against the borrower on the outstanding loan, and it does not prohibit such action on an original loan or a new Subsection 2 Loan.

***A. The FID's Interpretation Renders Part of Paragraph (f) Meaningless.***

First, the FID's interpretation that paragraph (f) bars civil suits or ADR on a new Subsection 2 loan would render the language "any extension . . . thereof" meaningless because a licensee cannot offer an additional extension on a Subsection 2 loan. *See Hardy*, 126 Nev. at 534, 245 P.3d at 1153 (stating this Court "will not render any part of the statute meaningless"). NRS 604A.408 limits

the original term of a deferred deposit loan or high-interest loan to 35 days, but allows loans to be up to 90 days if, among other things, “[t]he loan is not subject to any extension.” NRS 604A.408(2)(c). NRS 604A.480 provides the only exception to this 90-day limitation. *See* NRS 604A.408(3) (“Notwithstanding the provisions of NRS 604A.480, a licensee shall not agree to establish or extend the period for the repayment, renewal, refinancing or consolidation of an outstanding deferred deposit loan or high-interest loan for a period that exceeds 90 days after the date of origination of the loan.”).

Loans made under NRS 604A.480 may not be extended beyond the terms provided in each subsection. Subsection 1 only provides a period of repayment on the new loan to be an additional 60 days after the expiration of the initial loan period. Subsection 2 Loans allow a period of repayment up to 150 days. Beyond these dates listed in Subsections 1 and 2, a licensee cannot further extend a loan under either of these subsections because it would violate NRS 604A.408. Thus, the FID’s interpretation that paragraph (f), which states a “defaulted loan or any extension or repayment plan thereof,” applies to a new deferred deposit loan or high-interest loan is wrong because it would render “any extension” meaningless as Subsection 2 loans cannot be extended. Because this Court gives effect to every word in a statute, DLC’s interpretation should be adopted because it does not render meaningless any part of Subsection 2. *See JED Prop. v. Coastline RE*

*Holdings NV Corp.*, 131 Nev., Adv. Op. 11, 343 P.3d 1239, 1240-41 (2015); Antonin Scalia & Bryan A. Garner, *Reading Law: The Interpretation of Legal Texts* 174 (Thomson/West 2012) (“[E]very word and every provision is to be given effect (*verba cum effectu sunt accipienda*).”).

***B. NRS 604A.480 Must Be Read as a Whole.***

When reading Subsection 2 as a whole,<sup>4</sup> it is clear that paragraphs (a) through (f) are conditions precedent for a licensee to qualify to offer a Subsection 2 loan. The use of active verbs in paragraphs (a) through (f) demonstrates a licensee’s present obligations instead of future obligations. *Cf. Jordon v. N.Y. Mercantile Exch.*, 571 F. Supp. 1530, 1556 (S.D.N.Y. 1983) (recognizing the use of an “active verb suggests a deliberate effort to avoid placing an affirmative duty on exchanges concerning the terms of their future contracts”), *aff’d in part, rev’d in part*, 735 F.2d 653 (2d Cir. 1984). All six paragraphs speak in terms of an obligation the licensee has at the time it enters into the Subsection 2 Loan. Thus, to qualify for a Subsection 2 Loan, a licensee must have satisfied the following: (a) make the loan less than 200 percent interest and not longer than 150 days with a payment at least once per thirty days; (b) perform a credit check before making the

---

<sup>4</sup>Going beyond Subsection 2, NRS 604A.480(2)(f) should be read in harmony with other provisions of the chapter. For instance, NRS 604A.415 allows a licensee to commence a civil action to collect a debt. However, it does not provide any limitations for a licensee that lends under Subsection 2.



loan; (c) report the loan information to a consumer reporting agency; (d) give the borrower the right to rescind the loan within five days; (e) participate with certain counseling agencies; and (f) not have filed a lawsuit or other ADR proceedings on the original, outstanding loan and any extensions or repayment plans thereto.

These paragraphs essentially serve as prerequisites for a licensee to offer a longer loan than Subsection 1 allows, which is evident by the careful verb choice the Legislature used throughout Subsection 2. For instance, paragraph (d) states: “Gives the customer the right to rescind the new [loan] within 5 days after the loan is made without charging the customer any fee for rescinding the loan.” This paragraph is worded such that the licensee has an obligation at the time of entering into the Subsection 2 loan. The Legislature could have worded paragraph (d) to provide the customer a future right, such as stating: “The customer has the right to rescind the new loan within 5 days.” Instead, however, to parallel the language of the other paragraphs, the Legislature worded the statute to provide a present obligation at the time of entering the new Subsection 2 loan, rather than a future obligation. Paragraph (f) is no exception.

Here, the FID argues that “[a] Subsection 2 loan must be considered an ‘extension or repayment plan’ of a ‘defaulted’ payday loan if Subsection 2 of NRS 604A.480 is to be read consistently with Subsection 1.” AOB 22. This is wrong. NRS 604A.065 defines extension to mean “any extension or rollover of a loan

beyond the *date* on which the loan is required to be paid in full under the original terms of the loan agreement.” (emphasis added). Extensions are limited to affecting the due date and do not affect other terms of the original loan. A loan under NRS 604A.480, on the other hand, is treated as a “new” loan by the very terms of the statute: “The licensee shall not add any unpaid interest or other charges accrued during the original term of the outstanding loan or any *extension* of the outstanding loan to the principal amount of the *new deferred deposit loan or high-interest loan*.” NRS 604A.480(1) (emphasis added). Subsection 2 similarly refers to the transaction as a “new” loan. If a “new deferred deposit loan or high-interest loan” were considered an “extension,” the Legislature would not have specifically referred to “extension” separately.<sup>5</sup>

Additionally, a Subsection 2 Loan is not considered a “repayment plan.” NRS 604A.475 specifically governs repayment plans, which a licensee *must* offer to a debtor before filing a lawsuit or initiating ADR proceedings. Unlike a repayment plan, however, a licensee is not required to enter into a Subsection 2 loan, and the terms of a repayment plan differ from those of a Subsection 2 loan.

---

<sup>5</sup>The FID argues, because paragraph (f) bans “*any* civil action” on “*any* extension,” it must be applied to a Subsection 2 Loan. This is incorrect. First, a Subsection 2 Loan is not an “extension.” Second, paragraph (f) references a “defaulted loan or any extension or repayment plan *thereof*.” (emphasis added). The extension is related to the “defaulted loan,” which under Subsection 2 is the original, initial loan that the debtor is borrowing a new loan to pay the balance of.

Thus, a Subsection 2 loan is neither an “extension” or “repayment plan” as both of those terms are statutorily defined and said definitions do not encompass a Subsection 2 loan.

***C. The 2007 Amendments to Subsection 2 Are Instructive.***

The FID’s argument that paragraph (f) prohibits a licensee from initiating a lawsuit or ADR proceeding to collect on a new deferred deposit or high-interest loan is defeated by the 2007 amendments to NRS 604A.480. In 2007, the Legislature amended NRS 604A.480 by adding, among other things, the adjective “new” before deferred deposit and high interest loan in certain provisions. *See* 2007 Nev. Stat., ch. 265, § 22, at 940-41; A.B. 478, 74th Leg. (Nev., 2007). Notably, the adjective “new” was not added to paragraph (f), which specifically refers to a “defaulted” loan. Also, the Legislature specifically stated “the new deferred deposit loan or high-interest loan” in Section 2, paragraph (a), and paragraph (d), but did not include that term in paragraph (f). Thus, the Legislature clarified in 2007 which provisions relate solely to the “new deferred deposit loan or high-interest loan” by adding the adjective “new.” The Legislature’s decision not to include the same term in paragraph (f) is telling. *See, e.g., State v. Javier C.*, 128 Nev., Adv. Op. 50, 289 P.3d 1194, 1197 (2012) (“Nevada follows the maxim ‘expressio unius est exclusion alterius,’ the expression of one thing is the exclusion of another.”).

#### ***D. The FID's Interpretation Leads to Absurd Results.***

“[A] statute should always be construed to avoid absurd results.” *GES, Inc. v. Corbitt*, 117 Nev. 265, 270, 21 P.3d 11, 14 (2001). Here, the FID’s interpretation that paragraph (f) bars a licensee from suing “on the original or refinanced loan” leads to absurd results. AOB 3.

For instance, if a licensee can sue to collect on an original loan, but the licensee would waive that right—and the right to sue on the new loan—by offering a Subsection 2 loan, the licensee would have no incentive to refinance the original loan knowing that it has no recourse if the borrower defaults. This interpretation actually encourages licensees to sue on original loans instead of offering refinancing options because licensees would avoid “waiving” their rights to collect on a debt. Also, a borrower would never have an incentive to repay a Subsection 2 Loan if he or she knew that the licensee could not sue or initiate ADR proceedings.

#### **II. If Ambiguous, the Legislative History Supports DLC’s Interpretation.**

When interpreting an ambiguous statute, this Court’s primary consideration is the Legislature’s intent. *See Hardy Co. v. SNMARK, LLC*, 126 Nev. 528, 533, 245 P.3d 1149, 1153 (2010). To determine what the framers intended, this Court “will look to the provision’s legislative history and the scheme as a whole.” *Clark Cty. v. S. Nev. Health Dist.*, 128 Nev., Adv. Op. 58, 289 P.3d 212, 215 (2012) (internal quotation marks omitted). This Court construes the statute to conform “to

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